#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JUREKA BROWN

**FILED** 

**APPELLANT** 

V.

JAN 0 7 2008 OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

NO.2007-KA-00420-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

#### BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

### MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS

Leslie S. Lee, Justin T. Cook, 301 N. Lamar St., Ste 210 Jackson MS 39201 601 576-4200

Counsel for Appellant

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JUREKA BROWN APPELLANT

V. NO.2007-KA-00420-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NO. 1 THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT AS A MATTER OF LAW TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT.

ISSUE NO. 2 THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

ISSUE NO. 3 THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING A JUDGE-ALONE BIFURCATED HEARING TO DETERMINE IF THE SENTENCING ENHANCEMENT EXISTED BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

ISSUE NO. 4 THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SHOW THE TRANSACTION OCCURRED WITHIN 1500 FEET OF A CHURCH.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Marion County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction for the crime of Sale of Cocaine against the appellant, Jureka Brown. After conviction, the trial judge held a bifurcated hearing to determine if the transaction occurred within 1500 feet of a church as alleged in the indictment. Tr. 196-208, R.E. 18-31. After determining the transaction occurred within 1500 feet of a church, Brown was sentenced to sixty (60) years, with forty-five (45) to serve and fifteen (15) years suspended and five (5) years post-release supervision. C.P. 49-52, Tr. 211, R.E. 34. This sentence was to run consecutive to a ten (10) year revocation of post release supervision from a previous conviction. This sentence followed a jury trial which was held on February 26, 2003, and sentencing on March 7, 2003, Honorable R.I. Prichard, III, Circuit Judge, presiding. Brown was subsequently granted an out of time appeal. C.P. 69. Jureka Brown is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

#### **FACTS**

According to the trial testimony, James Irwin Powell, a confidential informant with the Pearl River Basin Narcotics Task Force, made a controlled buy of cocaine from one Chastity Cranford on February 8, 2002. Tr. 71, 96, 147. Powell testified that while in Cranford's apartment, she took him into see the appellant, Jureka Brown, who was in the bedroom watching a movie. Tr. 101-02. Cranford asked if she could sell Powell some crack or weed. Brown nodded, and Cranford said she had to get it out of the car. She asked Brown for the keys and he handed them to her. Tr. 102.

Cranford and Powell left the apartment and went down to Cranford's car. He retrieved money from Agent Donna Davis, an undercover agent waiting for him. Cranford got the drugs out of the car and went back into the apartment. According to Powell, Cranford broke off a piece, held it up to Brown, and he nodded his head that it was okay to sell. Powell then took the cocaine and gave Cranford twenty dollars (\$20.00). Tr. 103. Powell testified Cranford then handed Brown the money and he laid it on the bedside table. Tr. 103-04. Powell then left and gave the crack to Agent Davis. Tr. 104. The substance Powell purchased from Cranford was determined by the Crime Lab to be 0.1 gram of cocaine. Tr. 77-78, Exhibit 1.

Bobby Patterson, a member of the Task Force, testified he met with Powell, searched him, and set up the audio and video equipment Powell would use. Tr. 70. The buy was planned for Brown and Cranford's residence. Tr. 71. Agent Davis was given the buy money. Tr. 72. Patterson then provided surveillance for the operation. Tr. 73. He identified the

audiotape that recorded the transaction. Tr. 77, Exhibit 2. Patterson also confirmed the reason why Powell was a confidential informant was because Powell had pending charges. He was hoping for leniency by helping police. Tr. 80.

Patterson also confirmed he listened to the tape, but could not identify Brown. "I hear another male talking on the tape, besides our informant and a female that was there." Tr. 83-84, 87. In Patterson's affidavit against Cranford on March 5, 2002, he alleged Cranford showed the crack to Brown and Brown then told Cranford to sell Powell the crack. Exhibit 4. However, in his case report written the night of the buy, Patterson said nothing about Cranford showing the crack to Brown before finalizing the sale. Exhibit 5, Tr. 85.

Agent Davis was the undercover officer assigned to ride with Powell to the buy. Tr. 128-29. Davis was only able to confirm that Powell went into the apartment and later came out with Cranford. Powell then got the buy money from Davis and returned to the apartment with Cranford. Tr. 129. She did not leave the undercover vehicle during the sale and did not see Brown. Tr. 135, 140.

Cranford testified for the defense and admitted to selling the cocaine to Powell. Tr. 147. However, she testified that she sold the cocaine on her own and did not get Brown's permission before doing so. Tr. 148. She stated that Brown was in the apartment at the time, but no one else was in the living room when the exchange was made. Tr. 147. She stated she did go outside to retrieve the drugs, but no one told her to do it. She took the money from Powell and put it in her pocket. Tr. 150. Cranford testified that Powell never came into contact with Brown while in the apartment. Tr. 154.

Cranford testified that she pled guilty to selling cocaine to Powell and was sentenced to fifteen (15) years with four (4) to serve. Tr. 154, 160. She and Brown both knew Powell, as he was married to her cousin. Tr. 156. Cranford took full responsibility for the sale and maintained she never made eye contact with Brown during the transaction. Tr. 168.

After Brown was convicted by the jury, the trial court excused the jury and held a judge-alone, bifurcated hearing to determine if the transaction occurred within 1500 feet of a church as alleged in the indictment. Tr. 195-206, C.P. 5. Agent Bobby Patterson testified he measured the distance between Cranford's front door and the middle of a building he identified as the Seventh Day Adventist Church. Patterson testified the distance was approximately 720 feet. Tr. 199. Patterson had no personal knowledge that the building was an active church, but only went by the sign in front of the building. Tr. 205. Based solely on the agent's testimony, the trial judge found that Brown was eligible for enhanced punishment pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §41-29-142(Supp. 1993).

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Jureka Brown was sentenced to sixty (60) years with fifteen (15) years suspended based solely on the testimony of a confidential informant who admitted he was trying to work off other pending charges. The informant's only testimony that Brown was involved in the sale was that Brown simply nodded his head during the buy. An alleged nod of the head cost Brown not only sixty years in jail, but another ten years of revoked post-release supervision from a prior conviction. This evidence was clearly insufficient to convict Brown, especially in light of Cranford's testimony that she alone sold the cocaine to Powell. Brown's sentence

enhancement was also improperly conducted by the trial judge alone in a bifurcated hearing. This was a violation of Brown's 14<sup>th</sup> Amendment Due Process rights to have a jury determine beyond a reasonable doubt if the enhancement was supported by sufficient evidence. Finally, the evidence that was submitted to prove this transaction occurred within 1500 feet of a church was wholly insufficient to support the enhancement beyond a reasonable doubt.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# ISSUE NO. 1 THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT AS A MATTER OF LAW TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT.

In Brown's Motion for New Trial or in the Alternative JNOV, he specifically argued that the evidence was insufficient as a matter of law. C.P. 92, R.E. 35. The trial judge denied this motion. C.P. 99, R.E. 38. The trial judge erred in refusing to grant this motion.

"When reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence, this Court looks at the lower court's ruling 'on the last occasion when the sufficiency of the evidence was challenged." *Ballenger v. State*, 667 So.2d 1242, 1252 (Miss. 1995), (quoting *Green v. State*, 631 So.2d 167, 174 (Miss. 1994)). The last occasion when Jureka Brown challenged the sufficiency of the evidence was in his JNOV motion. C.P. 92-94. Therefore, this Court is to consider all the evidence presented during the entire trial. *Gibson v. State*, 731 So.2d 1087 (¶12) (Miss. 1998).

"The Supreme Court will reverse the lower court's denial of a motion for new trial only if, by denying, the court abused its discretion." *Esparaza v. State*, 595 So.2d 418 (Miss. 1992)(citing *Wetz v. State*, 503 So.2d 803, 812 (Miss. 1987); *Crenshaw v. State*, 520

So.2d 131, 135 (Miss.1988); Leflore v. State, 535 So.2d 68, 70 (Miss.1988); Neal v. State, 451 So.2d 743, 760 (Miss.1984), cert. denied, Neal v. Mississippi, 469 U.S. 1098, 105 S.Ct. 607, 83 L.Ed.2d 716 (1984)). "Under this standard, this Court will consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the appellee, giving that party the benefit of all favorable inference that may be reasonably drawn from the evidence." Jefferson v. State, 818 So.2d 1099, 1111 (Miss. 2002)(citing Coleman v. State, 697 So.2d 777 (Miss. 1997)). "If the facts so considered point so overwhelmingly in favor of the appellant that reasonable men could not have arrived at a contrary verdict, we are required to reverse and render." Id. "On the other hand if there is substantial evidence in support of the verdict, that is, evidence of such quality and weight that reasonable and fair minded jurors in the exercise of impartial judgment might have reached different conclusions, affirmance is required." Id.

Under federal constitutional law, the test for determining a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence asks whether a "rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 319, (1979). As set forth in the facts above, the State provided insufficient evidence to prove to the jury beyond a reason doubt that this appellant was involved in any manner in Cranford's sale of cocaine to Powell.

The audiotape is of poor quality. Exhibit 2, Tr. 90-91. The conversation to and from the apartment is almost impossible to hear because of loud clicking noise. Inside the apartment, the noise of the television makes it difficult to hear the conversation. Regardless, Powell noted that Brown's sole participation in the sale amounted to a nod of the head. Tr.

103. Even the prosecutor admitted during his final closing argument that the nod was his entire case. "And I'm asking you return a verdict of guilty of a sale of controlled substance if nothing else buy by a nod of the head, because that's what he did." Tr. 192.

The evidence was simply insufficient to show Powell took any active role in Cranford's cocaine sale to Powell. The audiotape can not corroborate Powell's testimony that Brown nodded his head. Furthermore, even if Brown did nod, it is pure speculation on why he nodded. The nod could have had nothing to do with the sale of cocaine. When the trial court allowed this case to go to the jury on this evidence alone, he allowed a verdict based solely on speculation. Cranford specifically testified Brown was not involved. Tr. 168. She testified that if she could have put this crime off on anybody else, she would have. But she went on to state, "Why should somebody else have to suffer for what I've done?" Tr. 167.

Based on the testimony presented, the trial judge should have granted Brown's motion for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict. The evidence did not show beyond a reasonable doubt that Brown aided and abetted this sale. The jury did not follow Instruction No. 6 which told the jury to view Powell's testimony with greater case than an ordinary witness. C.P. 40. Brown's conviction should be reversed and rendered.

# ISSUE NO. 2 THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

In the alternative, if this Court finds the evidence was at least sufficient to go to the jury, then Brown is still entitled to a new trial based on the weight of the weight of the

evidence. In Brown's Motion for New Trial or in the Alternative JNOV, appellant specifically argued that the jury's verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. C.P. 92-94, R.E. 35-37. The trial judge denied this motion. C.P. 99, R.E. 38. The trial judge erred in refusing to grant this motion.

"In determining whether a jury verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, this Court must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial." *Herring v. State*, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss.1997). "Only in those cases where the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice will this Court disturb it on appeal." *Id. See also Benson v. State*, 551 So.2d 188, 193 (Miss.1989); *McFee v. State*, 511 So.2d 130, 133-34 (Miss.1987).

As argued above in Issue No. 1, Brown was convicted because a confidential informant with the clear motive of self-interest, testified Brown nodded his head during the sale from Cranford. Powell was simply not credible. He knew Brown, but failed to identify him in his statement<sup>1</sup>. Exhibit 6. Powell testified Cranford was pregnant at the time of the sale. Tr. 106. However, this was impossible for him to know, as Cranford could have only been pregnant for a few days, if at all, at the time of the sale. Tr. 152-53. It is entirely reasonable that Powell added Brown to the transaction to help him make another case,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Powell did identify Cranford as "Chastity" in his statement. Exhibit 6.

therefore helping him receive leniency on his pending charges. At the time of trial, Powell stated he was still working with police to secure leniency. Tr. 122.

Normally, the jury weighs the credibility of each witness. *Wetz v. State*, 503 So.2d 803, 812 (Miss. 1987). However, this can be set aside by this Court when the verdict is contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

A reversal on the grounds that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, "unlike a reversal based on insufficient evidence, does not mean that acquittal was the only proper verdict." *McQueen v. State*, 423 So.2d 800, 803 (Miss.1982). Rather, as the "thirteenth juror," the court simply disagrees with the jury's resolution of the conflicting testimony. *Id.* This difference of opinion does not signify acquittal any more than a disagreement among the jurors themselves. *Id.* Instead, the proper remedy is to grant a new trial.

Bush v. State, 895 So.2d 836, 844 (Miss. 2005).

In addition to the facts set forth above, Powell was also impeached when asked if he had met with the district attorney in preparing for trial. He denied meeting with the prosecution, stating he did not meet with anyone, but was just subpoenaed to be there. Tr. 113. He then had to backtrack and admit he viewed his statement with the district attorney that very day. Tr. 114. Powell originally stated he received no help in writing his statement. Tr. 115-16. Powell later admitted to getting help spelling certain words. Tr. 120. Powell testified he had "no deal whatsoever" in return for his testimony. Tr. 97. Yet, he certainly expected something in return.

- Q. Have they made you any promises that if you do X, Y, Z, that you will receive leniency?
- A. Yes, sir. Somewhat.
- Q. They have?

- A. They hadn't made me no promises, but they told me they would, you know, consider it when my trial comes.
- Q. Okay, Earlier you said they hadn't did anything like that; is that correct?
- A. They hadn't made just consider what I done for them.
- Q. Okay. Is part of that consideration testifying here today?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Okay. And that will be giving you leniency a later date?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Any they haven't given you a deal yet, because you're still waiting on some stuff with your cases, right?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. No nothing unusual about that. You're still working, right?
- A. Yes sir.
- A. You're working here today?
- A. Yes, sir.

#### Tr. 121-22.

Furthermore, Powell wrote nothing in his statement about Cranford handing the money to Brown. Exhibit 6, Tr. 123. Powell had every motive to lie, as he need a bigger fish than Cranford to help him work off his charges. Fifty-five years to serve, (Brown's current sentence along with his revocation), for an alleged nod of the head would certainly sanction an unconscionable injustice. Brown is entitled to a new trial.

# ISSUE NO. 3 THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING A JUDGE-ALONE BIFURCATED HEARING TO DETERMINE IF THE SENTENCING ENHANCEMENT EXISTED BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

After jury selection was completed, trial counsel asked the court if evidence supporting the enhancement was to be excluded during trial.

MR. IRVIN: Are we going to go on the record at some point before we get started as to the exclusion of the enhancement?

THE COURT: Yeah. Let the record show that the case of <u>Willie Lee Williams</u> A/K/A Black Bill versus State of Mississippi, Number 1999-KA-01666-SCT

discussed the enhanced penalty of sales within distances of schools and churches. And rightfully determined that this is an enhancement to the punishment, not an element of the crime. Unlike a felony DUI where the DUI first of DUI second are definitely elements of the crime. This is like a second or subsequent offender. Now, the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court only speak to enhancement based on prior convictions. But the gist of the rule, I believe, goes to any enhanced penalty. And by agreement of defense, State and the Court this case will be tried on the issue of whether or not Jureka Brown did, in fact, transfer or sale cocaine, a Schedule II controlled substance, on the date of 8 February, 2002, in Marion County, Mississippi. And there will be no testimony or charge brought out to the jury about the possible enhancement due to the 1,500 feet of the church. That if the jury were to find him guilty of the charge of sale or transfer of a controlled substance, then a bifurcated hearing will be held to see whether or not it was within the required distance of the church. And then and only then would the enhanced penalty be imposed. And the jury instructions will just direct the intention of the jury to sale or transfers.

#### Tr. 52-53.

The appellant submits that this was error as it violated Brown's Sixth Amendment right to trial by jury, as the case of *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466 (2000), had already been decided by the time of Brown's trial and should have been applied. As the trial judge should have been aware, the *Apprendi* Court held the rights guaranteed in the United States Constitution require proof beyond a reasonable doubt of each and every element of the offense. Brown had the right to have the jury decide if the enhancement existed beyond a reasonable doubt.

...[T]hese rights indisputably entitle a criminal defendant to "a jury determination that [he] is guilty of every element of the crime with which he is charged, beyond a reasonable doubt." *United States v. Gaudin*, 515 U.S. 506, 510, 115 S.Ct. 2310, 132 L.Ed.2d 444 (1995); see also *Sullivan v. Louisiana*, 508 U.S. 275, 278, 113 S.Ct. 2078, 124 L.Ed.2d 182 (1993); *Winship*, 397 U.S., at 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068 ("[T]he Due Process Clause protects the accused

against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged").

Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 477.

Apprendi was charged with firing shots into the home of an African-American family. He pled guilty to possession of a firearm for unlawful purpose. After the judge accepted the guilty pleas, the prosecutor moved for an enhanced sentence on the basis that it was a hate crime. Apprendi argued that he was entitled to have the finding on enhancement decided by a jury. The United States Supreme Court held, "Other than the fact of a prior conviction, any fact that increases the penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum must be submitted to a jury, and proved beyond a reasonable doubt." *Id.* at 490.

Apprendi clearly applies, as the maximum sentence under Miss. Code Ann. § 41-29-139(a)(1)(Supp. 1999), is thirty (30) years. As the State was attempting to enhance Brown's sentence to sixty (60) years under Miss. Code Ann. § 41-29-142 (Supp. 1993), Brown was therefore entitled to have the jury determine whether the transaction was within 1500 feet of a church under the clear language of Apprendi. 530 U.S. at 490. The record is void of any waiver by Brown of this constitutional right. The right to a jury trial cannot be waived by counsel. The United States Supreme Court in Blakely v. Washington, held that there is nothing to prevent a defendant, even in a guilty plea, from waiving his Apprendi rights. However, a defendant must either stipulate to the relevant facts or consent to judicial fact finding. Blakely, 542 U.S. 296, 310 (2004), citing Apprendi at 530 U.S. at 488. Brown did

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