# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

### JUREKA BROWN

VS.

APPELLANT

NO. 2007-KA-0420

·.,

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APR 1.6 2008 OFFICE OF THE GLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

FILED

APPELLEE

## **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

#### APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: DEIRDRE MCCRORY SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The verdict is based on legally sufficient proof and is not contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence. The state introduced substantial credible evidence that the defendant joined with Chastity Cranford in the consummation of the sale and that he was therefore guilty as a principal.

Furthermore, Brown's fourth proposition is procedurally barred by his failure to bring to the trial court's attention the alleged deficiencies in the state's proof of the sentenceenhancing factor. Alternatively, the state contends the prosecution presented legally sufficient proof that the sale occurred within 1500 feet of a church.

Finally, any arguable error in the court's resolution of the sentence-enhancing factor is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. No rational jury would have made a finding other than the one rendered by the trial court on this uncomplicated issue.

3

#### **PROPOSITION ONE:**

# THE VERDICT IS BASED ON LEGALLY SUFFICIENT PROOF AND IS NOT CONTRARY TO THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

Under his Propositions 1 and 2, Brown challenges the sufficiency and weight of the

evidence undergirding his conviction. To prevail on the assertion that he is entitled to a

judgment of acquittal, he must satisfy the following formidable standard of review:

When on appeal one convicted of a criminal offense challenges the legal sufficiency of the evidence, our authority to interfere with the jury's verdict is guite limited. We proceed by considering all of the evidence--not just that supporting the case for the prosecution--in the light most consistent with the verdict. We give [the] prosecution the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence. If the facts and inferences so considered point in favor of the accused with sufficient force that reasonable men could not have found beyond a reasonable doubt that he was guilty, reversal and discharge are required. On the other hand, if there is in the record substantial evidence of such quality and weight that, having in mind the beyond a reasonable doubt burden of proof standard, reasonable and fair-minded jurors in the exercise of impartial judgment might have reached different conclusions, the verdict of guilty is thus placed beyond our authority to disturb.

*Manning v. State*, 735 So.2d 323, 333 (Miss.1999), quoting *McFee v. State*, 511 So.2d 130, 133-34 (Miss.1987).

Furthermore,

The jury is charged with the responsibility of weighing and considering conflicting evidence, evaluating the credibility of witnesses, and determining whose testimony should be believed. [citation omitted] The jury has the duty to determine the impeachment value of inconsistencies or contradictions as well as testimonial defects of perception, memory, and sincerity. *Noe v. State*, 616 So.2d 298, 302 (Miss.1993) (citations omitted). "It is not for this Court to pass upon the credibility of witnesses and where evidence justifies the verdict it must be accepted as having been found worthy of belief." *Williams v. State*, 427 So.2d 100, 104 (Miss.1983). (emphasis added) *Ford v. State*, 737 So.2d 424, 425 (Miss. App. 1999).

See also *Jackson v. State*, 580 So.2d 1217, 1219 (Miss.1991) (on appellate review the state "is entitled to the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence"), and *Noe*, 616 So.2d at 302 (evidence favorable to the defendant should be disregarded). Accord, *Harris v. State*, 532 So.2d 602, 603 (Miss.1988) (appellate court "should not and cannot usurp the power of the fact-finder/ jury"). "When a defendant challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction, the evidence which supports the verdict is accepted as true by the reviewing court, and the State is given the benefit of all reasonable inferences flowing from the evidence." *Dumas v. State*, 806 So.2d 1009, 1011 (Miss. 2000).

This rigorous standard applies to the claim that Brown is entitled to a new trial:

The standard of review in determining whether a jury verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence is well settled. "ITThis Court must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial." Dudley v. State, 719 So.2d 180, 182(¶8) (Miss.1998). On review, the State is given "the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence." Griffin v. State, 607 So.2d 1197, 1201 (Miss.1992). "Only in those cases where the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice will this Court disturb it on appeal." Dudley, 719 So.2d at 182 . "This Court does not have the task of re-weighing the facts in each case to, in effect, go behind the jury to detect whether the testimony and evidence they chose to believe was or was not the most credible." Langston v. State, 791 So.2d 273, 280 (¶ 14) (Miss. Ct. App. 2001).

Smith v. State, 868 So.2d 1048, 1050-51 (Miss. App. 2004),

#### Furthermore,

The jury is charged with the responsibility of weighing and considering conflicting evidence, evaluating the credibility of witnesses, and determining whose testimony should be believed. [citation omitted] The jury has the duty to determine the impeachment value of inconsistencies or contradictions as well as testimonial defects of perception, memory, and sincerity. *Noe v. State*, 616 So.2d 298, 302 (Miss.1993) (citations omitted). **"It is not for this Court to pass upon the credibility of witnesses and where evidence justifies the verdict it must be accepted as having been found worthy of belief."** *Williams v. State*, 427 So.2d 100, 104 (Miss.1983).

(emphasis added) Ford v. State, 737 So.2d 424, 425 (Miss. App. 1999).

It has been "held in numerous cases that the jury is the sole judge of the credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be attached to their testimony." *Kohlberg v. State*, 704 So.2d 1307, 1311 (Miss.1997). As this Court recently reiterated in *Hales v. State*, 933 So.2d 962, 968 (Miss. 2006), criminal cases will not be reversed "where there is a straight issue of fact, or a conflict in the facts..." [citations omitted] Rather, "juries are impaneled for the very purpose of passing upon such questions of disputed fact, and [the Court does] not intend to invade the province and prerogative of the jury." [citations omitted]

Finally, in this case "[t]here was not a great deal of evidence for the fact finder to weigh since the defendant did not testify." *White v. State*, 722 So.2d 1242, 1247 (Miss.1998). The defendant's failure to do so left the jury free to give "full effect" to the testimony of the state's witnesses. *Id.* 

We incorporate by reference the proof set out in our Statement of Substantive Facts to support our position that the prosecution presented substantial credible evidence of Brown's guilt of sale or transfer of cocaine. A person "is guilty of the sale or transfer of a controlled substance" is he is "personally present at a drug transaction and aids and abets the sale" even if he "never has control of the drug and receives no remuneration or consideration." *Bingham v. State*, 723 So.2d 1193, 1196 (Miss. App. 1998), citing Johnson v. State, 642 So.2d 924, 927 (Miss. 1994). Accord, *Hollins v. State*, 799 So.2d 118, 121-22 (Miss. App. 2001). Here, the state presented evidence that Brown was present when Powell inquired about purchasing drugs; that Cranford "looked at Jureka and he shook his head okay"; that Brown then handed her a set of keys and told her the substance was "in the car." Cranford retrieved the cocaine and, back inside the apartment, showed it to Brown, who indicated his approval of the sale. Still in Brown's presence, Cranford handed the substance to Powell, and Powell handed a \$20 bill to Cranford, who in turn gave it to Brown. These facts provided substantial credible proof that Brown constructively sold cocaine to Powell. See *Hollins*, 799 So.2d 118 at 121. No basis exists for disturbing the jury's verdict. Brown's first and second propositions should be denied.

#### **PROPOSITION TWO:**

## BROWN'S FOURTH PROPOSITION IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED; IN THE ALTERNATIVE, THE STATE SUBMITS THE PROSECUTION PRESENTED LEGALLY SUFFICIENT PROOF THAT THE SALE OCCURRED WITHIN 1500 FEET OF A CHURCH<sup>2</sup>

Brown's final argument is that the evidence was insufficient to show the transaction occurred within 1500 feet of a church. The state counters first that Brown made no challenge to the adequacy of the state's proof after the hearing on this issue and interposed no objection to the court's finding and sentencing. (T.205-11) Because he failed to point out the alleged deficiencies to the trial court, he cannot be heard to do so for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Because our response to Brown's third proposition will require reference to our response to his fourth, we address Brown's fourth issue at this juncture for the sake of convenience.

the first time here. *Moore v. State*, 958 So.2d 824, 831 (Miss.2007); *Foster v. State*, 928 So.2d 873, 881 (Miss. 2005); *Banks v. State*, 394 So.2d 875, 877 (Miss. 1981). His fourth proposition is procedurally barred.

Solely in the alternative, the state submits Commander Patterson testified that he had personally measured the distance in question with "a measuring device that has two wheels on it, a foot marker... " In his words, "I got as close as I could to the center of the front door on the apartment, of his [Brown's] apartment. And I walked north until I got to the center of the front of the church building." He had determined the distance to be "[a]pproximately 720 feet." When the court told him that this matter was "very vital" and pressed him to be more specific, he clarified that the distance was 720 feet, giving or taking only two or three feet either way. (T.200-03)

On cross-examination, he testified that while he did not "check and see if it was active," the church appeared to be "open." (T.203-04) On redirect examination, he testified that the grounds of the church appeared to be maintained; that the windows were not boarded up; and that the parking lot "seemed like it was kept up ... " The church was in a state of repair and there was no indication that it had been abandoned. (T.204-05)

The defense rested without presenting evidence. The court then found in pertinent part "that this sale or transfer of the controlled substance took place within 1,500 feet of Columbia Seventh Day Adventist Church." (T.206) This finding is supported by substantial credible, uncontroverted evidence. Commander Patterson testified unequivocally that he had measured the distance himself and found it to be 720 feet, giving or taking only two or three feet in either direction, thus putting the span at well under one half of the statutory 1500 feet. He also testified that the church appeared to be in repair, that its grounds were

8

maintained, its windows were not boarded up and it did not appear to be abandoned. The defense put on no proof to the contrary.

In *Jones v. State*, 791 So.2d 891, 895 (Miss.App.2001), the undercover officer testified that she "drove off" the distance between the location of the sale and a nearby church and that she knew the distance was within 1,500 feet. The Court of Appeals denied a challenge to the sufficiency of proof of the enhancing factor. Much more definite proof was presented here. See also *Johnson v. State*, 904 So.2d 162, 167 (Miss. 2005) (rejecting argument that the state had failed to prove the church in question housed an active congregation); *Anderson v. State*, 749 So.2d 234, 237 (Miss.1999).

The state presented substantial proof that this sale occurred within 1500 feet of a church. Brown's fourth proposition should be denied.

#### **PROPOSITION THREE:**

# ANY ARGUABLE APPRENDI ERROR IS HARMLESS UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES PRESENTED HERE

Immediately prior to the seating of the jury, the following was taken in chambers:

MR. IRVIN: Are we going to go on record at some point before we get started as to the exclusion of the enhancement?

THE COURT: Yeah. Let the record show that the case of <u>Willie Lee Williams A/K/A Black Bill versus State of</u> <u>Missisippi, Number 1999-KA-01666-SCT</u> discussed the enhanced penalty of sales within distances of schools and churches. And rightfully determined that this is an enhancement to the punishment, not an element of the crime. Unlike a felony DUI where the DUI first or DUI second are definitely elements of the crime. This is like a second or subsequent offender. Now, the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court only speak to enhancement based on prior convictions. But the gist of the rule, I believe, goes to any enhanced penalty. And by agreement of the defense, State and the Court this case will be tried on the issue of whether or not Jureka Brown did, in fact, transfer or sale [sic] cocaine a Schedule II controlled substance, on the date of 8 February, 2002, in Marion County, Mississippi. And there will be no testimony or charge brought out to the jury about the possible enhancement due to the 1,500 feet of the church. That if the jury were to find him guilty of the charge of sale or transfer of a controlled substance, then a bifurcated hearing will be held to see whether or not it was within the required distance of the church. And then and only then would the enhanced penalty be imposed. And the jury instructions will just direct the intention of the jury to sale or transfers.

(emphasis added) (T.52-53)

After the verdict was returned and the jury was excused, the court proceeded to try the issue of whether the sale occurred within 1500 feet of a church. The defendant did not object to these proceedings. (T.195-96) From this record it may be concluded rationally that the defense not only acquiesced in but prompted this procedure.<sup>3</sup>

Citing *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466 (2000), Brown now asserts that he was entitled to a jury determination of the issue whether the sale transpired within 1500 feet of a church. The state cannot disagree. *Apprendi* clearly holds that fact-based sentencing enhancing factors must be resolved by the jury. 530 U.S. at 490. Moreover. we must acknowledge that while a defendant may waive his *Apprendi* rights, such waiver is valid only if he stipulates to the relevant facts or consents to judicial factfinding. *Blakely v. Washington*, 542 U.S.296, 310 (2004).

The state has found no authority for the narrow proposition that a waiver of *Apprendi* rights is not effective unless it is made personally by the defendant rather than through counsel. Assuming *arguendo* that *Apprendi* error occurred here, the state submits it clearly

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Defense counsel's use of the term "exclusion" when he first broached this matter suggests that the defense, seeking to exclude the evidence of the distance between the apartment and the church, was the proponent of this course of action.

would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt<sup>4</sup> under the facts presented here. In *Washington v. Recuenco*, 548 U.S. 212 (2006), the United States Supreme Court held that *Apprendi/Blakely* error is subject to harmless error analysis and would be considered harmless if it were determined that upon remand, had the sentencing factor been properly submitted to the jury, the jury would have found the element proved beyond a reasonable doubt. See also *United States v. Hollis*, 490 F.3d 1149 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir.2007).

In this case, the sentencing factor was clear-cut. The state presented substantial, uncontradicted evidence<sup>5</sup> that the sale occurred well within 1500 feet of a church. It is inconceivable that any rational juror would have made a finding other than the one rendered by the trial court. In light of these facts, any arguable error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Brown's third proposition should be denied.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24, (1967). See also *Thomas v. State*, 711 So.2d 867, 872 (Miss.1998) (holding that constitutional errors may be harmless where evidence of guilt is "overwhelming").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Of course, it was the state's burden to prove this fact, and the defendant was not required to put on proof. The fact that he declined to do so, however, left the fact finder free to give full effect to the state's evidence. *White*, 722 So.2d at 1247. Had the jury been charged with resolving this issue, it would have had the same liberty.

### CONCLUSION

The state respectfully submits that no reversible error was committed in this case.

Accordingly, the judgment rendered against Brown should be affirmed.